Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-19-2017

Litke v. Munkhoff Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44735

I. INTRODUCTION

This case requires the Court to determine whether the scope of the general duty to secure an aggressive or dangerous dog should be extended to require custodians of dogs to continue to take steps to prevent injury after the dog's owner has resumed custody and control and removed the dog from the custodian's property. This case also asks this Court to examine the scope of liability of parents for the actions of their adult children that occur off the parents' property when the parents are not present. And, this case asks this Court to examine the extent of proximate cause.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from an Order of the First District Court denying the Appellants Mark Munkhoff and Robyn Munkhoff (collectively, Munkhoffs)'s Motion for Summary Judgment as to plaintiffs' claim for negligence and from the trial court's Order denying the Munkhoffs' I.R.C.P. 59.1 and 60 Motion for Remittitur and New Trial.

B. Statement of the Facts

The Munkhoffs live next door to Respondent Klaus Kummerling (Kummerling) on Sutters Way in Coeur d'Alene. In November 2012, the Munkhoffs' adult son Sam Munkhoff adopted a pit bull named Bo; Sam was residing on E. Walnut Avenue in Coeur d'Alene at the time. (R 63, ¶2; R 69, ¶3.B; R 72, ¶4; R 74, ¶6.A) Starting July 5, 2013, Sam began working in North Dakota. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 238 ll. 17-23, p. 241 ll. 19-21, p. 263 ll. 17-22) Sam left Bo in the care of the Munkhoffs on July 5 and returned July 25. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 245 ll. 4-11) Sam and Bo

were both staying with the Munkhoffs on July 30, 2013, when Bo bit Kummerling in or near Kummerling's driveway. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 239 ll. 17-19, p. 252, ll. 10-14) Sam was taking Bo for a walk at the time of the injury and had him on a leash. (R 65 at ¶6; R 87, 112; Tr. Vol. I p. 9-17, Vol. II, p. 240 l. 16 to 241 l. 6)

Bo had been declared an aggressive dog in November 2012. (R 70, ¶3.D) An animal control officer, Laurie Deus, provided Sam with a copy of City Ordinance No. 6.20.030 and a declaration form which explained the responsibilities of an owner of an aggressive dog. Id. Officer Deus stated she also explained the requirements for containing Bo to Mark, but Mark and Sam testified that the information provided to Mark was incomplete. (R 70-71, ¶3.E; Tr. Vol. II, p. 232 1.20 to p. 233 1. 9; p. 256 1. 7 to p. 257 1. 20) Bo was declared a dangerous dog in April 2013, but the Munkhoffs testified that they were unaware of the declaration. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 244 1. 19 to p. 245 1. 3, p. 261 II. 2-9, p. 272 II. 8-12) Sam turned twenty-years-old in May 2013, and was not residing with the Munkhoffs. (R 97; Tr. Vol. II p. 228 II. 21-24)

Sam left Bo in the Munkhoffs' care on July 5, 2013. (R 99, ¶99; Tr. Vol. II, p. 241 l. 19-p. 242 l. 2; Vol. II, p. 267 ll. 4-7, p. 281 l. 20 to 282 l. 4) The Munkhoffs' home had a beware of dog sign on the property already, as the Munkhoffs had a Boxer. (Pl's Ex. 26) Kummerling testified that he did not see the sign. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 72 ll. 23-25) Kummerling complained to the Munkhoffs that Bo barked and would charge the fence between the two properties "with all four paws against the fence" so hard that the fence would move "about two feet left and right." (Tr. Vol. I, p. 59 ll. 5-11; Vol. III p. 367 ll. 10-20)

On July 30, 2013, while Sam was temporarily staying with the Munkhoffs (R 64, ¶5) Sam took Bo for a walk from the Munkhoffs' home into the Canfield Mountain area. (R 64, ¶6; Tr. Vol. I, p. 74:9-13) Sam did not muzzle Bo. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 74 ll. 16-17) As Sam was returning from the walk, Kummerling approached Sam and Bo. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 75 ll. 4-24) Kummerling claimed that he asked Sam if he could pet Bo, explaining to Sam that he wanted to "make friends with [Bo] so he won't bounce against the fence all the time." (Tr. Vol. I, p. 75 ll. 13-18) Kummerling testified that he asked, "He's not going to bite me, is he?" and that Sam had stated Bo would not bite Kummerling. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 75 ll. 17-19)

As Klaus bent toward Bo, Bo bit his face causing substantial injury. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 76 ll. 6-14) Sam was holding Bo's leash at the time. (R 112, ¶3) Neither of the Munkhoffs were present. (R 64, ¶7; Tr. Vol. I, p. 123 ll. 17-25) The dog bite occurred either in Kummerling's driveway or on the sidewalk in front of his home. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 124 ll. 1-3) The Munkhoffs were not present at the time of the injury. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 124 ll. 4-6)

C. Course of Proceedings

Kummerling and his wife Baerbel Litke filed a complaint in the District Court of the First Judicial District, making claims for negligence, gross negligence, outrage, and nuisance against the City of Coeur d'Alene, Coeur d'Alene Police Chief Ron Clark, Mark Munkhoff, Robyn Munkhoff, and Sam Munkhoff. (R 10-18) The trial court dismissed the claims against the City and Chief Clark.

1. The Munkhoffs filed a motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of the negligence claim based upon their lack of custody and control over Bo at the time of the injury.

Kummerling alleged in his complaint that the Munkhoffs were negligent because they harbored Bo at their home, despite being aware of his vicious propensities, and because they failed to ensure the public was protected from Bo. (R 16, ¶¶6.5, 6.7) The Munkhoffs filed a motion for summary judgment on March 17, 2016. (R 44) The trial court granted the Munkhoffs' motion as to all claims except the claim for negligence. (R 208)

The following facts were undisputed at summary judgment: (1) Sam owned Bo (R 11, ¶3.2; R 32, ¶1; R 20, ¶6; R 27-29, ¶XXVIII; R 63, ¶2; R 72, ¶4; R 74, ¶6.A; R 97); (2) Sam was then twenty-years-old (R 97); (3) the Munkhoffs allowed Sam to bring Bo to their home when he stayed with them (R 64, ¶¶3, 5); (4) Sam had left Bo with the Munkhoffs while he was working in North Dakota, but had returned to Coeur d'Alene and was staying with the Munkhoffs at the time of the injury (R 99); (5) Sam had sole physical control of Bo at the time of the injury, had left the Munkhoffs' property with Bo, and was holding Bo's leash at the time of the injury (R 1, ¶3.14; R 65, ¶6, 8; R 112, ¶3); (6) the Munkhoffs were not present at the time of the injury (R 65, ¶7); (7) the injury occurred in or near the driveway of Kummerling's home and not on the Munkhoffs' property (R 112, ¶2; R 65, ¶7); and (8) Kummerling asked if it was okay to pet Bo immediately before the injury (R 112, ¶3). Kummerling presented no proximate cause evidence linking the alleged omissions of the Munkhoffs to the injury. (See R 107-29)

The Munkhoffs argued that no duty was breached as a matter of law because it was undisputed that Sam had sole custody and control of Bo at the time of the injury. (R 51-52, 152)

The Munkhoffs reasoned that it was unduly burdensome to extend the duty to prevent injury to include even those instances when an animal was not under a defendant's control and was at an unknown location outside the defendant's property. (R 51) Extending the scope of duty to require the Munkhoffs to exercise control over Bo even after Sam had removed him from the Munkhoffs' property would require temporary custodians of animals to exercise control over the animals' adult owners, even when they had no legal right to do so. (R 51-52) Further, even if the Munkhoffs had some duties under the City's municipal code merely because Bo had stayed with them in the past, the ordinance did not require the Munkhoffs to keep Bo off their property or to inform Kummerling that Bo had been declared aggressive or dangerous (R 151-52; see Coeur d'Alene Municipal Code 6.20.030)

The Munkhoffs also argued Kummerling had failed to establish the Munkhoffs' actions were the proximate cause of Kummerling's injury and argued Sam's actions were a superseding cause of the injury. (R 53-56) The Munkhoffs pointed out that the injury could have happened regardless of any acts or omissions by the Munkhoffs because they could not control how another adult managed his dog. (R 54-55) Even if that were not the case, Sam's independent action in deciding to take Bo for a walk without muzzling Bo and in allowing Kummerling to approach Bo was a superseding cause of the injury. (R 55-56)

Kummerling did not dispute that the Munkhoffs did not have control of Bo at the time of the attack and did not dispute that the bite had occurred outside of the Munkhoffs' property. (R 149-51) Instead, Kummerling claimed it did not matter who was controlling Bo at the time of the injury because Bo "would not have been there [in Kummerling's driveway] at all if not for

that the Munkhoffs owed a duty to Kummerling to: (1) remove Bo from their property, (2) muzzle Bo, or (3) notify the public that they had a dangerous dog on their premises. (R 134)

Kummerling relied solely on argument to claim that the Munkhoffs' alleged harboring of Bo without muzzling and failure to provide notice to the public of Bo's propensities was the proximate cause of the injury to Kummerling. (R 138-39) Kummerling claimed that, because the Munkhoffs had a duty to prevent Bo from even being present on their property, Sam's actions in walking Bo without a muzzle and allowing Kummerling to attempt to pet Bo could not be a superseding cause. (R 139-40) Kummerling presented evidence indicating that Sam had been cited in regard to Bo's previous conduct and had been advised that he was required to muzzle Bo. (R 124) Kummerling presented no evidence, however, connecting the alleged breaches by the Munkhoffs to his injury. (See R 112-15)

The trial court did not examine whether the Munkhoffs were custodians at the time of the injury. Instead the trial court focused upon the Munkhoffs' knowledge of Bo's propensities and erroneously reasoned that whether the Munkhoffs owed a duty at the time of the injury turned upon how long Bo had stayed with the Munkhoffs before the injury. (R 174) The trial court further ruled that whether the Munkhoffs breached a duty, whether the breach was a proximate cause of the injury, and whether Sam's actions were a superseding cause of the injury were all dependent upon whether the Munkhoffs were harboring Bo. (R 176, 178) The trial court dismissed all claims against the Munkhoffs, except Kummerling's claim for negligence. (R 208)

2. Trial.

The case was tried to a jury from September 19, 2016 through September 22, 2016. The key issues at trial were: (1) whether the Munkhoffs owed a duty to Kummerling at the time of the injury; (2) whether Kummerling was at fault for bending to pet a pit bull, whom he had observed behaving aggressively; (3) whether Sam's act in walking Bo without a muzzle and allowing Kummerling to approach Bo was a superseding cause; and (4) damages. Sam appeared pro se.

a. Evidence presented at trial.

At trial Kummerling testified that he did not see Bo very much and that Robyn had told him that the Munkhoffs were taking care of the Bo for Sam. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 58 II.10-17, p. 71 II. 8-9) Kummerling testified that he was unaware of any beware of dog signs and that the Munkhoffs had not told him that Bo had been declared an aggressive dog, but that he had seen Bo charging the fence with all four paws so hard that the fence would move a couple of feet. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 98 II. 24-25, p. 109 II. 1-16, p. 122 II. 6 to p. 123 I. 16) This had happened on several occasions before the date of the injury when Kummerling was cleaning up plums in his own yard near the Munkhoffs' fence. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 122 I. 16 to p. 123 I. 15)

Kummerling testified that on July 30, 2013, before the injury, he had seen Sam walk Bo to Canfield Mountain without a muzzle on Bo. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 74 ll. 9-17) When Sam returned and neared Kummerling's driveway, Kummerling asked Sam if he could pet Bo. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 75 ll. 7-24) Bo was on a leash held by Sam, but was not wearing a muzzle. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 75 ll. 17-18, p. 76 ll. 20-21, ll. 24 to p. 77 l. 1) Kummerling testified that he asked Sam if Bo would bite and

that Sam had said "no." (Tr. Vol. I, p. 75 ll. 17-18) Kummerling then bent down and tried to pet Bo, when Bo bit him. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 76 ll. 6-10)

Kummerling testified that neither of the Munkhoffs were present and that the injury did not occur on their property:

- Q. And now, just so we're clear, this dog bite did not happen in Mark and Robyn's house, did it?
- A. No.
- Q. And it did not even happen on their property, did it?
- A. No.
- Q. And Mark and Robyn were not present at the time it happened.
- A. No.
- Q. It happened either on a public sidewalk or perhaps just inside your driveway; right?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And the only people around, as far as you can remember, were you and Sam.
- A. Yes.

(Tr. Vol. I, p. 123 l. 17 to p. 124 l. 6)

Kummerling's wife, Baerbel Litke, testified that she had never seen Bo at the Munkhoff home before the injury. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 137 ll. 20-25)

Sam testified that he had been residing at locations other than the Munkhoffs' home from at least November 2012 up until the time of the injury. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 228 ll. 12-24) Sam also

testified that he had owned Bo beginning at the end of November 2012. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 229 ll. 17-19, p. 230 ll. 6-11) Sam acknowledged that when Bo was declared an aggressive dog in November 2012, he was informed of the City's requirements for keeping Bo, including muzzling Bo. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 231 ll. 23 to p. 232 l. 15)

Sam testified at trial that for a period in July 2013 he was working in North Dakota and that Bo stayed at the Munkhoffs' home when he was gone, but that Bo remained Sam's responsibility. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 241 l. 19 to p. 242 l. 16) Sam left for North Dakota on July 5 and returned on or about July 25, 2013, five days before the injury. (Tr. Vol. II. p. 245 ll. 4-11)

Mark Munkhoff confirmed that Sam was staying with the Munkhoffs at the time of the injury and that Bo was at the Munkhoffs' home beginning when Sam began work in North Dakota on July 5, 2013. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 252 ll. 1-14, p. 263 ll. 12-22) Robyn Munkhoff also testified that Bo stayed at the house in July 2013 and that she provided Bo with basic care during that time. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 281 l.20 to p. 282 l. 4)

Testimony from Animal Control Officer Laurie Deus confirmed that only Sam, as Bo's owner, had been cited by the City and notified of the declarations of Bo's status as an aggressive dog and then dangerous dog. (Tr. Vol. III, p. 361 l. 22 to p. 362 l. 11; Tr. Vol. II, p. 207 ll. 14-23, p. 211 ll. 6-11, p. 215 ll. 10-13, p. 216 l. 24 to p. 217 l. 11; Tr. Vol. II, p. 205 ll. 17-19)

No testimony was admitted at trial indicating that Bo was a permanent resident at the Munkhoffs', that Bo was not in the sole custody and control of Sam after Sam returned from North Dakota, or that anyone other than Sam had any control over Bo at the time of the injury.

b. The jury's verdict.

Kummerling argued in closing that all three of the Munkhoffs were owner/custodians of Bo and that the jury should use their verdict to send a message regarding responsible pet ownership. (Tr. Vol. IV, p. 466 l. 21 to 467 l. 4, p. 488 ll. 18-22)

The jury found for Kummerling awarding \$16,603.00 in economic damages and \$185,000.00 in non-economic damages, and allocated fault by special verdict as follows:

Sam Munkhoff 45%

Mark Munkhoff 40%

Robyn Munkhoff 10%

Klaus Kummerling 5%

3. Motion for Remittitur and New Trial

The Munkhoffs brought a motion for a new trial or for remittitur and/or relief from judgment on October 11, 2016 under §6-807, and I.R.C.P. 59, 59.1, and 60. (R 410-18) There, the Munkhoffs argued that there was insufficient evidence to support the allocation of fault to Mark and to Robyn. (R 449)

The trial court denied the Munkhoffs' motion. The trial court opined that the court's allocation would have been slightly different, but that the disparity between the court's allocation and the jury's did not shock the conscience, such that the motion for new trial should be granted. (R 452) The trial court further reasoned that she did not believe that the Munkhoffs did not have authority to require their adult son to muzzle his dog when he took Bo off their property. (R 488) The trial court reasoned that liability was apportioned appropriately based upon her view that

Robyn's testimony regarding her knowledge of Bo's propensities was not credible and her belief that Mark knew what the municipal ordinances require. (R 451) On November 7, 2016, the trial court entered its Judgment on Special Verdict imposing judgment against Mark in the amount of \$77,243.30 and against Robyn in the amount of \$19,310.82. (R 460-61)

The Munkhoffs have appealed from the court's order on summary judgment and order denying remittitur and new trial.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the trial court erred in denying summary judgment dismissing Kummerling's negligence claim.
 - 1. Whether a custodian's duty extends to times when the owner of an animal has resumed custody and control over the animal.
 - 2. Whether the trial court erred in finding there was a genuine issue of fact as to causation where the plaintiff presented no evidence regarding proximate cause and where undisputed evidence established a superseding cause.
- B. Whether the trial court erred in denying the Munkhoffs' motion for remittitur and for new trial where there was insufficient evidence to establish the Munkhoffs were custodians at the time of the injury.

IV. ARGUMENT

To prevail on his claim for negligence against the Munkhoffs, Kummerling bore the burden of proving (1) the Munkhoffs owed Kummerling a duty that is recognized by law; (2) the Munkhoffs breached that duty; (3) a causal connection between the duty and the resulting injury;

and (4) actual loss or damage. <u>Turpen v. Granieri</u>, 133 Idaho 244, 247, 985 P.2d 669 (1999). Whether a party owes a duty is a question of law that must be determined at the time of the injury. Kummerling presented no evidence at summary judgment or at trial disputing Sam's sole custody and control of Bo at the time of the injury. The trial court therefore erred in denying the Munkhoffs' motion for summary judgment and their motion for a new trial.

Whether an alleged breach was a substantial cause of an injury can be determined on summary judgment when no evidence is presented from which a reasonable juror could find causation. Path to Health, LLP v. Long, 161 Idaho 50, 161 P.3d 1220, 1228 (2016). Kummerling presented argument of counsel, but no evidence establishing any nexus between the alleged breach by the Munkhoffs and Kummerling's injury. Because Kummerling failed to meet his burden on summary judgment, dismissal was required as a matter of law. The trial court therefore erred in reserving the issue for the jury.

A. The trial court erred in denying the Munkhoffs' motion for summary judgment dismissing Kummerling's negligence claim because Kummerling failed to create a genuine issue of fact as to either the Munkhoffs' duty or proximate cause.

There were no genuine issues of fact at summary judgment because the threshold issue—whether the Munkhoffs were Bo's custodians at the time of the injury—was clear. No party alleged that anyone other than Sam had control over Bo when Bo bit Kummerling. Therefore as a matter of law, the Munkhoffs had no affirmative duty at that moment (or immediately before that moment) to prevent injury to Kummerling. Because Kummerling failed to meet his burden as to this critical threshold issue, the trial court erred in ruling that issues regarding the

foreseeability of the injury and the Munkhoffs' knowledge of Bo's propensities must be tried to the jury.

1. Standard of Review of Ruling on Motion for Summary Judgment

On review, the Supreme Court applies the same standard used by the trial court when ruling on the motion. <u>Bright v. Maznik</u>, No. 44129, 2017 WL 2644705, at *2 (Idaho, June 20, 2017). "The court must grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(a). The reviewing court reviews only that portion of the record that was before the trial court at the time the motion was presented. <u>Brown v. Matthews Mortuary, Inc.</u>, 118 Idaho 830, 832, 833, 801 P.2d 37 (1990).

In order to create a genuine issue of material fact, the plaintiff must do more than offer conclusory assertions that an issue of fact exists. <u>Cates v. Albertson's Inc.</u>, 126 Idaho 1030, 1033, 895 P.2d 1223 (1995). The nonmovant's response "must set forth specific facts showing there is no genuine issue for trial." <u>Id.</u> (quoting I.R.C.P. 56(e)). Speculation and a mere scintilla of evidence is insufficient to create an issue of fact. <u>G&M Farms v. Funk Irrigation Co.</u>, 119 Idaho 514, 517, 808 P.2d 851 (1990).

2. The Munkhoffs breached no duty to Kummerling because they were not custodians of Bo at the time of the injury.

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