Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-19-2017

Litke v. Munkhoff Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44735

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

The Restatement Second of Torts Section 42 (1965) provides the following guidelines to determine whether an act is a superseding cause: (a) The fact that the intervention brings about harm different in kind from which would otherwise have resulted from the actor's negligence; (b) The fact that its operation of or the consequences thereof appear after the event to be extraordinary rather than normal in view of the circumstances existing at the time of its operation; (c) The fact that the intervening force is operating independently of any situation created by the actor's negligence, or, on the

other hand is or is not a normal relief result of such situation; (d) The fact that the operation of the intervening force is due to a third person's act or his failure to act; (e) The fact that the intervening force is due to an act of a third person, which is wrongful towards the other and as such subjects the third person to liability to him; (f) The degree of culpability of a wrongful act of a third person, which sets the intervening force in motion. The Plaintiffs did argue at the time of hearing that if Defendants had posted warning signs, Mr. Kummerling would not have tried to pet the dog. Also, if Bo had been muzzled, the injury would not have occurred. Applying the above referenced factors of the restatement, it is clear that Sam's walking Bo was not a superseding factor to eliminate responsibility of the Munkhoffs.

It is clearly foreseeable that the dog whether by Sam, or otherwise, would be walked. Mr. Kummerling would not have attempted to pet Bo if he aware that dangerous dog signs had been posted on the Munkhoff's property (R 100). The requirements of foreseeability have been met by the Kummerlings. 1)The Munkhoffs were aware of the dog's aggressive/dangerous propensities; 2) The Munkhoffs were aware of steps that were necessary to address the aggressive/dangerous propensities of the dog and keep the dog on their premises but failed to do so; 3) It was foreseeable that if the Munkhoffs did not address those issues regarding

muzzling, harboring an aggressive dangerous dog and/or fencing, the dog could in fact harm someone; and 4) It was foreseeable that Sam would take the dog for a walk and the dog could possibly bite someone during that walk if not muzzled.

Acts of negligence whether joint or independent of each other can both cause the proximate cause of an injury Valles v. Union Pacific Railroad, Co., 72 Idaho 231, 238-239, 238 P.2d 1154, 1161-1162 (1951). Before an intervening superseding cause of an accident can become the sole proximate cause of the injury and thus relieve the first negligent wrong doer of liability, such subsequent cause must have been unforeseen, unanticipated and not a probable consequence of the original negligence. Lundy v. Hazen at 330 citing Dewey v. Keller, 86 Idaho 506, 388 P.2d 988 (1964). The Munkhoffs argue that the lack of signage and/or muzzling was not a direct or actual cause of Mr. Kummerling's injuries. Actual cause is whether a particular event produced a particular consequence Newberry v. Martens, 142 Idaho 284, 288, 127 P.3d 187, 191 (2005). The issues with the signage is simply answered by the fact that Mr. Kummerling would not have attempted to pet the dog or come near it if he was aware that the dog had been declared dangerous and had been notified by adequate signage on the Munkhoff home. In regards to the muzzling, if Mr. Kummerling had seen the muzzle on

the dog, first of all that would have put him on notice that there was some dangerous propensities with the dog and secondly, the dog would not have been able to attack him.

B. The trial court's denial of the Munkhoff's motion for a new trial and remittitur were appropriate

The Munkhoffs filed a motion for new trial pursuant to I.R.C.P. 59(a)(1)(A), (F), (G), 60(b)(3) and I.C. § 6-807. (R 410-418) A motion for remitter under I.R.C.P. 59.1 also was filed by the Munkhoffs. (R 410-418) The Munkhoffs requested, in their Appellate Brief, relief pursuant to I.R.C.P 60(b)(6). No such request was made at the motion for new trial and therefore relief under that provision on the appellate level is inappropriate. (R 410-418)

The basis for the I.R.C.P. 59(a)(1)(A) and 60(b)(3) motions for new trial by the Munkhoffs was an unsubstantiated claim that Mr. Kummerling misrepresented to the court and jury at the time of trial, the extent of his hearing problems (R 412 ¶ A and R 416-417 R 407-409). Mr. Kummerling used a hearing aided device provided by the court during the trial. (R420 ¶ 4) Uncontroverted declarations and or affidavits of Mr. Kummerling (R 419-420), Baerbel Litke (R 422-423) and Kummerlings' attorney Larry J. Kuznetz (R 425-427) confirmed that Mr. Kummerling's hearing loss was substantial,

very real, and occurred after the dog attack and prior to trial. Consequently the Munkhoffs, for appellate purposes have failed to preserve and or present a claim for new trial under I.R.C.P. 60.

1. Standard of Review

The standard applicable to the trial court's decision to grant or deny a new trial under I.C.R.P. 59(a) is an abuse of discretion standard. Burggraf v. Chaffin, 121 Idaho 171, 173 823 P.2d 775 (1991). That abuse of discretion must be manifest Pratton v Gage, 122 Idaho 848, 850, 840 P.2d 392, 394(1992). The reason for this standard is that the trial court is best capable to weigh the demeanor, credibility, and testimony of the witnesses and evidence overall. Quick v Crane 111 Idaho 759, 770, 727 P.2d 1187, 1198 (1986). To determine whether a trial court has abused its discretion, the appellate court is to consider whether it correctly perceived the issue as discretion, whether it acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistent with legal standards, and whether it reached its decision by an exercise of reason Reed v. Reed, 137 Idaho 53, 56, 44 P.3d 1108, 1111 (2002).

2. The jury award was appropriate and not excessive.

The Munkhoffs have abandoned their appeal of the trial court's ruling denying their request for a new trial based upon irregularity by an adverse

party under I.R.C.P. 59(a)(1)(A) and fraud or misrepresentation pursuant to I.R.C.P. 60(b)(3). That leaves their appeal for a new trial claims based upon I.C. § 6-807 and I.R.C.P. 59(a)(1)(F) regarding excessive damages and I.R.C.P. 59(a)(1)(G) regarding insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict.

As a general rule it is the jury's function to set the damage award based upon its sense of fairness and justice <u>Quick v. Crane</u>, 111 Idaho 759, 769, 727 P.2d 1187, 1197 (1986). A verdict should only be overturned by a trial judge in very limited cases. <u>Hei v. Holzer</u>, 145 Idaho 563, 181P.3d. 489, (2008). Respondents have not found any Idaho case affirming the trial court's discretion to overrule jury verdict in favor of a Plaintiff. For this court at this juncture to overrule the jury's decision would be a manifest abuse of discretion and invade the province of a jury.

The power of the court over excessive damages exists only when the facts are such that excess appears as a matter of law or such as to suggest, at first blush passion prejudice, or corruption on the part of the jury <u>Blaine v. Byers</u>, 91 Idaho 665, 671, 429 P.2d 397, 403 (1967). To overrule a jury decision, an award must shock the conscience of the trial judge and lead the trial judge to conclude it would be unconscionable to let the damage award by the jury stand. <u>Dinneen v. Finch</u>, 100 ID 620, 625, 603 P.2d 575, 580 (1979). The jury award in this case did not shock the conscience of the trial

judge. The trial judge in a lengthy memorandum decision outlined in detail the reasons for the denial of the Munkhoffs motion for new trial. (R 436-455). In that decision the trial court stated the disparity between the jury's allocation and the court's allocation certainly does not shock the conscience of the court but instead convinces the court of the reasonableness of the jury's allocation and that it was not based upon passion or prejudice (R 452-453). The fact the amount the jury awarded and what the trial judge would have awarded is evidence itself of lack of passion or prejudice. In regard to the allocation of fault; the Trial Court stated, "With respect to the jury's allocation of fault, the Court has considered how it would have allocated fault based upon the evidence and it finds that the jury's allocation and the Court's allocation are very close" (R 452-453).

The Munkhoffs have argued in their appeal that the trial court inappropriately applied the two-pronged test stated in Robertson v. Richards, 115 Idaho 628, 769 P.2d 505 (1989) citing Blaine v Byers 91 Idaho 665, 429 P.2d 397 (1967). In the present case, the trial court, after weighing all the evidence and determining the credibility of the witnesses, determined that the jury award was reasonable. The trial court took pains to address the credibility of the witnesses in its' memorandum decision denying the Munkhoffs' motion for new trial. The trial court found the plaintiffs', Mr.

Kummerling and Ms. Litke, to be credible. (R 447). The trial court found Sam Munkhoff to lack credibility. (R 447-448) "The Court also found Mark Munkhoff, and, to a lesser extent, Robyn Munkhoff, to lack credibility". (R 448) The trial court did satisfy the second prong of the test cited in <u>Blaine</u> and <u>Robertson</u> directing the court to consider whether *probably* a different result would occur in retrial. The trial court did consider this prong and basically stated it was in agreement with both the jury award and allocation of fault negating the probability of a different result at a new trial.

3. There was sufficient evidence to support the jury verdict and the denial of the motion for a new trial was appropriate.

The Munkhoffs state that there is no evidence showing the Munkhoffs were custodians of Bo at the time of attack. The following evidence demonstrates that the Munkhoffs had care, control and custody of Bo at the time of attack:

- a. Sam acknowledged on November, 27 2012, when he met Officer Laurie
 Deus at the Munkhoffs home, that Bo would be housed there. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 207 ll 2-6).
- b. Based upon discussions with Mark Munkhoff on November 27, 2012,
 Officer Deus believed Bo would be housed at the Munkhoff's home.(Tr. Vol. II, p. 208 ll. 6-25)

- c. Officer Deus indicated on the declaration of aggressive dog citation regarding the November, 2012 incident with Bo that the address where the dog would be housed was the Munkhoff's home at 3810 Sutters Way. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 211 ll. 1-11)
- d. Mark Munkhoff indicated to Officer Deus on November 27, 2012 that Bo would be staying at his home. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 214, ll. 12-22. Mark Munkhoff also stated he would contain the dog and the dog was part of the family, (R 71-72 ¶ E)
- e. Officer Deus reviewed the requirements for keeping an aggressive dog including fencing, signage and muzzling with both Sam and Mark Munkhoff on November 27, 2012 and Mark Munhoff verbally agreed to those conditions. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 215 ll. 2-9)
- f. The dog, Bo, was residing at the Munkhoff's home on April 30, 2013 when he attacked another person.(Tr. Vol. II, page 219 ll. 24-25 and page 220 ll. 1-2)
- g. Officer Deus testified that once a dog has been declared aggressive or dangerous; the owner or custodian must notify the City of Coeur d' Alene where the dog is residing, including any changes in residence.
 (Tr. Vol. II, page 199 ll. 14-20. No residence addresses for the location of Bo were provided to Officer Deus other than the Munkhoff's home.

- h. Sam Munkhoff testified Bo and the Munkhoff's dog "Baxter" were running loose on April 29, 2013, after escaping the Munkhoff's yard. (Tr.Vol. II, page 236 ll. 2-22. In this incident Bo bit a third party and was cited as a dangerous dog. (Tr. Vol. II, page 235 ll.
- i. Bo was also found running loose in Coeur d'Alene in February of 2013 but was not cited. (Tr.Vol. II, page 234 ll. 16-24)
- j. Mark Munkhoff falsely indicated to Officer Deus on April 30, 2013 and May 3, 2013, that Bo was not allowed on his premises but stated "if the dog shows up, he will shoot it" (R 93) and (R 94 ¶ 4). He also indicated on May 3, 2013 that Sam was not allowed to move back in the Munkhoff's home R 94 ¶ 4)
- k. Robyn Munkhoff told Officer Deus immediately after the attack that Sam had been working in North Dakota the last few months and Bo had "been living in our backyard the whole time Sam had been in North Dakota" (R 99 ¶ 5).
- 1. Bo had been residing at the Munkhoffs residence a number of months prior to the attack according to Mr. Kummerling (R 112 ¶ 6).
- m. Mark and Robyn Munkhoff had been the sole custodians of Bo while Sam was in North Dakota (R 113 ¶ 7).

- n. The Munkhoffs admitted Bo was allowed to stay with them (R 64 \P 3). and was staying with them at the time of the attack on July 30, 2013 (R 65 \P 5).
- o. Sam lied to Officer Deus when he told her that he and Bo were residing in the Long Beach, California, area sometime between November, 2012 and July 30, 2013. (Tr. Vol. II. Page 222 ll. 22-25 and page 238 ll.1-5)
- p. According to Sam, he was working in North Dakota from July 5, 2013 through the end of August, 2013, while Bo was still residing at the Munkhoff's home. (Tr. Vol. II. page 238 ll. 17-25 and page 239 ll. 1-12). Contrary to this Robyn Munkhoff stated to Officer Deus that Sam had been working in North Dakota the last few months prior to the attack (R 112 ¶ 6)
- q. Bo was a 65 pound pit bull who was solid muscle and Sam was concerned it wasn't safe for his mother to walk the dog. (Tr. Vol. II. Page 243 ll. 7-12)
- r. Sam admitted he lied to protect Bo. (Tr. Vol. II. Page 243 ll. 13-15)
- s. Mark Munkhoff told Officer Deus that "he agreed to contain the dog in my yard". (Tr. Vol. II, page 255 ll. 23-25, and page 256 line 1.)
- t. Mark Munkhoff testified that he was the primary caregiver for Bo in July of 2013. (Tr. Vol. II, page 267 ll. 3-7.)

- u. Robyn Munkhoff fed and watered Bo in July of 2013. (Tr. Vol. II, page 281 ll 20-25.)
- v. Robyn Munkhoff could not provide any addresses for where Sam and Bo allegedly lived from November, 2012 thru July 30, 2013. (Tr. Vol. II, page 279 ll.18-25, and page 280 ll. 1-4.)
- w. Robyn Munkhoff told Mr. Kummerling that she was taking care of Bo and suggested Mr. Kummerling spray the fence to stop Bo from jumping on it. (Tr. Vol. I, page 70 ll.213-25 and page 71 ll. 1-15.)
- x. Mr. Kummerling did not see a beware of dog sign posted on the Munkhoff's property prior to and up until the time he was attacked.(Tr. Vol. I, page 72 ll. 23-25, and page 73 ll.1-7.)
- y. Robyn Munkhoff indicated if her dog bit someone she would take precautions that she needed to. Tr. Vol. III, page 372 ll. 8-15.)
- z. Officer Deus did not see a beware of a dog sign on the Munkhoff property either in December 2012 or at the time of the attack on July 30, 2013 (R 81 ¶ 3) (R 99 ¶ 5).
- aa.Sam told Officer Deus that it would be better if Bo stayed at the Munkhoff's home (R 80 \P 3).

There is more than substantial evidence that the Munkhoffs were the caretakers of Bo, and that Bo resided at the Munkhoff's home at the time of

the attack on Mr. Kummerling. This combined with the lack of credibility of all the defendants supports the jury verdict in this matter. A jury verdict must be upheld if there is evidence of sufficient quantity and probative value that reasonable minds could have reached a similar conclusion to that of the jury <u>April Beguesse Inc. v Rammell</u>, 156 Idaho 500, 509, 328 P.3d 480, 489 (2014). The jury's verdict on factual issues will generally not be disturbed on appeal McKim v Horner, 143 Idaho 568, 572, 149 P3d 843, 847 (2006).

4. The Munkhoff's motion for a new trial filed with the trial court does not raise an issue regarding the custodian of Bo.

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